FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/25/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 54435-1-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff / Respondent,

٧.

DUSTEN JAMES OWENS,

Defendant / Petitioner.

ON REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,
DIVISION TWO,
AND
THE SUPERIOR COURT OF
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,
PIERCE COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATHRYN RUSSELL SELK, No. 23879 Counsel for Petitioner

> RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE 1037 Northeast 65th Street,# 176 Seattle, Washington 98115 (206) 782-3353No. 10-11598

B.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW		
C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
D.	ARG	<i>UMENT</i>	
	1.	DIVISION TWO ERRED IN REFUSING TO APPLY THE STATE'S CORPUS DELICTI RULE, IN FINDING THE EVIDENCE SUFFICIENT, AND IN FAILING TO FOLLOW GOODMAN AND THUS RELIEVING THE STATE OF ITS DUE PROCESS BURDENS	
	2.	REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED TO ADDRESS COUNSEL'S INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE 15	
	3.	REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED ON THE BLAKE ISSUE	
	4.	REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED ON THE ISSUES RAISED IN THE <i>PRO SE</i> RAP 10.10 STATEMENT19	
E.	CON	CLUSION	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 828 P.2d 549 (1992)
State v. Aten, 130 Wn.2d 640, 927 P.2d 210 (1996) 8, 10, 14
State v. Blake, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021) 2, 18
State v. Brockob, 159 Wn.2d 311, 150 P.3d 59 (2007)
State v. Cardenas-Flores, 189 Wn.2d 243, 401 P.3d 19 (2017)
State v. Dow, 168 Wn.2d 243, 227 P.3d 1278 (2010) 9
State v. Goodman, 150 Wn.2d 774, 183 P.3d 410 (2004)
State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 215 P.3d 177 (2009) 15
State v. Read, 147 Wn.2d 238, 53 P.3d 26 (2002) 16
State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992) 11
State v. W.R., Jr., 181 Wn.2d 757, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014) 7
WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS
State v. Bowen, 157 Wn. App. 821, 239 P.3d 1114 (2010) 12
State v. Echeverria, 85 Wn. App. 777, 934 P.3d 1214 (1997)
State v. Haaler 71. Wn. Ann. 222 872 P. 2d 85 (1001) 8

State v. Hotchkiss II, 1 Wn. App. 2d 275, 404 P.3d 629 (2017), review denied, 190 Wn.2d 1005 (2018) 9
<i>State v. LaBounty</i> , 17 Wn. App. 2d 576, 487 P.3d 221 (2021)
<i>State v. McCorkle</i> , 88 Wn. App. 485, 945 P.2d 736 (1997)
State v. Owens, Wn. App.2d, P.3d (2022), issued July 26, 2022
State v. Tadeo-Mares, 86 Wn. App. 813, 939 P.2d 220 (1997)
State v. Turner, 103 Wn. App. 515, 13 P.3d 324 (2000) 12
State v. Weekly, Wn. App. 2d (2022 WL 2719518) (unpublished), review denied, 199 Wn.2d 1023 (2022) 18, 19
FEDERAL CASES
In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (170)
<i>Strickland v. Washington</i> , 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)
RULES, STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
Art. 1, § 9
Fourteenth Amend 7, 15
RAP 10.10 2, 19, 21
RAP 10.10(f)

RAP 13.4(b)(1)	
RAP 13.4(b)(2)	
RAP 13.4(b)(3)1, 7, 13, 15	
RAP 13.7(b)	
Sixth Amend	

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Dusten J. Owens, Petitioner, asks the Court to grant review of the decision of Division Two of the Court of Appeals terminating review in this case, *State v. Owens*, __ Wn. App.2d ___, __ P.3d ___ (2022), issued July 26, 2022. A copy is attached as Appendix A.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Where the appellant raises a corpus delicti argument, is it error for the reviewing court to fail to apply the standards this Court has set forth for such claims and instead convert the arguments to non-corpus "sufficiency" claims and affirm even though reversal would be required with proper application of the corpus delicti rule?
- 2. Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(2), because Division Two's decision is inconsistent with holdings such as that in State v. Echeverria, 85 Wn. App. 777, 934 P.3d 1214 (1997), regarding the proper application and scope of the doctrine of knowing "constructive possession" to cars?
- 3. Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), because Division Two's decision here is in direct conflict with *State v. Goodman*, 150 Wn.2d 774, 782, 83 P.3d 410 (2004)?
 - Further, should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(3), because the lower appellate court decision relieved the State of the full weight of its due process burden of proof?
- 4. Is it ineffective assistance to fail to impeach an officer witness who was previously found by a trial

court to have been "not credible" in his testimony about whether he had searched someone before or after arrest where that officer is the sole witness to the alleged confession which formed the bulk of the State's case?

- 5. Did the court of appeals err in holding that remand for resentencing is not required under this Court's decision in *State v. Blake*, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021)?
- 6. Should review be granted on the issues presented in Petitioner's *pro se* RAP 10.10 Statement of Additional Grounds for Review?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Dusten J. Owens was driving a car which a deputy saw commit a traffic offense. RP 162-68. The officer activated lights and sirens but the car ahead did not stop. RP 162-68. At one point during the very short chase which ensued, when the cars were making a sharp turn at fast speed, the pursuing deputy saw a backpack thrown from the passenger front side of the car ahead. RP 176-81.

After just a few minutes, Mr. Owens stopped the car in the middle of a street and put his hands out the window. RP 180-86. Police ordered everyone out of the car gunpoint, and both Mr. Owens and the woman in the front passenger seat, Cassandra Armstrong, were handcuffed and searched. RP

180-85. Ms. Armstrong had five grams of suspected drugs in her sweatshirt pocket and her baby and a puppy in the back seat. RP 195-96, 230. Mr. Owens told the officers the drugs were his. *See* RP 195-96, 230.

A deputy asked Mr. Owens about Ms. Armstrong throwing the backpack out of the window. RP 197-98. Mr. Owens knew nothing about it. RP 197-98. The deputy who was involved in the brief chase admitted that it took all the officer's attention and both hands on the wheel to make the same turn that Mr. Owens had been making at the time Ms. Armstrong threw the backpack. RP 217.

Mr. Owens admitted that he had "run" from the pursuing police car because he had an outstanding felony warrant. RP 230-31.

Mr. Owens was not accused of any crimes related to the drugs in Ms. Armstrong's pocket. Instead, he was accused of crimes related to items found in a backpack police found and which they believed was the one Ms. Armstrong had thrown. CP 59-61. Inside the backpack, deputies found a black holster, a handgun, some ammunition, some keys, and three separate plastic bags of suspected drugs. RP 191-92, 198, 227-28, 246-

50.

Nothing in the backpack identified to whom it belonged. RP 228. The State did not fingerprint the bags, gun, holster, or backpack, and never linked the keys to any person or place. RP 157-355. The gun was registered to a man with whom police never spoke. RP 118, 302-309.

A police expert testified that drug dealers commonly possess items like money, packaging such as "baggies," preweighed drugs, "cutting" materials, scales, notes or ledgers showing sales, "burner" or temporary phones, and, he said, "[t]he majority of the time," "some sort of firearm" to protect the "business." RP 293-94.

There was no money, packaging, cutting material, scales, notes or sales ledgers, and no "burner" phones in the backpack. RP 228-29. Or in the car. RP 226. Or on Mr. Owens. RP 226.

The State did not present evidence of who owned the car or in whose name it was registered, but an officer said some years earlier Mr. Owens had been arrested "out of" the same car. RP 188, 226.

A forensic scientist with the Crime Lab tested only one

of the three bags and found it contained a little less than an ounce of a substance which included methamphetamine. RP 349-53. She did not test the other bags but thought they looked the same. RP 350.

A detective testified that methamphetamine was inexpensive and users who would buy up to 8 ounces at a time, although the typical addict used between a gram and a "quarter ounce" a day. RP 287-92. An ounce was about \$250. RP 362-63.

At some point when Mr. Owens was handcuffed in the back of a police car, a Pierce County Sheriff's Department Deputy, Chris Olson, questioned him. RP 267. According to Deputy Olson, Mr. Owens confessed. RP 267. In a short conversation, the deputy said, Mr. Owens admitted having just gotten out of prison for the same thing i.e. running from police with a gun and some drugs, but said the prior incident involved less drugs. RP 280-81. The deputy also testified that Mr. Owens admitted buying the gun and said where and how much he paid. RP 282-83. According to the deputy, Mr. Owens conceded he was both "using" and "dealing." RP 273, 283.

Mr. Owens was charged with, *inter alia*, unlawful possession of the methamphetamine in the backpack with intent to deliver and of being "armed" at the time of that crime (count I) and first-degree unlawful possession of the gun in the backpack (count II). CP 59-61. The prosecutor's theory was that Mr. Owens was in constructive possession of everything that had been in the car - even in the closed backpack Ms. Armstrong had discarded, because as the driver by definition he had "dominion and control" of the whole car. RP 357, 364.

The prosecutor relied on the statements Deputy Olson said Mr. Owens had made as proving that Mr. Owens was possessing the drugs in the backpack and that the possession was with intent, as well as for possession of the gun. RP 364-65. In rebuttal closing argument the prosecutor admitted that it was the statements Deputy Olson said Mr. Owens had made which "provide the link" between Mr. Owens and the backpack. RP 413-14.

In the bench trial "Conclusions of Law," the judge entered findings of fact that there were "3 separately packaged baggies of methamphetamine" involved. CP 137-38.

D. ARGUMENT

1. DIVISION TWO ERRED IN REFUSING TO APPLY THE STATE'S CORPUS DELICTI RULE, IN FINDING THE EVIDENCE SUFFICIENT, AND IN FAILING TO FOLLOW GOODMAN AND THUS RELIEVING THE STATE OF ITS DUE PROCESS BURDENS

Both the state and federal constitutions require the State to bear the full weight of proving every essential element of the crime, beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. W.R., Jr., 181 Wn.2d 757, 761, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014); In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (170); Fourteenth Amend.; Art. 1, § 9. The standards of review, however, differ depending upon the challenge to the evidence on appeal. This Court has carefully crafted standards where the issue a corpus delicti claim based on the State's use of the defendant's confession at trial, but the Court of Appeals failed to use those standards, instead adopting a new blend of corpus analysis and non-corpus analysis. Applying that new standard, Division Two then failed to follow the holding of this Court in Goodman. The result was that the State was relieved of the full weight of its due process burden. This Court should grant review on these issues under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (3).

To prove unlawful possession of the firearm in the backpack, the State had to show the possession was "knowing." *Echeverria*, 85 Wn. App. at 783. To prove possession with intent to deliver methamphetamine, the State had to show that the substance possessed was a "controlled substance," that the defendant had knowing "possession" of the substance, and that the possession was with the required intent. *State v. Hagler*, 74 Wn. App. 232, 235, 872 P.2d 85 (1994).

Here, Mr. Owens argued that there was insufficient evidence to support the convictions for constructive possession of the gun or the drugs and for the "intent to deliver" element of the drug crime without the confession to Deputy Olson, under our state's corpus delicti rule. Brief of Appellant ("BOA") at 12-30. This Court has established the proper analysis for such claims. Under our state's unique rule, the reviewing court considers the evidence below without the confession, asking if "the independent evidence supports a 'logical and reasonable inference'" that the charged crime occurred. State v. Aten, 130 Wn.2d 640, 660-61, 927 P.2d 210 (1996) (quotations omitted). The independent evidence need

not prove the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt, but that evidence is sufficient to corroborate the confession *only* if the evidence supports a logical and reasonable inference of guilt for the charged crime, without also being consistent with innocence or guilt for another crime. *State v. Brockob*, 159 Wn.2d 311, 328, 150 P.3d 59 (2007).

The purpose of our state's *corpus delicti* rule is to guard against convictions based unjustly on confession alone. *State v. Dow*, 168 Wn.2d 243, 249, 227 P.3d 1278 (2010). The rule recognizes a judicial mistrust of confessions. *Id.* The requirements of the rule are "rooted in traditional notions of justice and ha[ve] become a settled principle of the administration of criminal justice" in Washington. 168 Wn.2d at 250-51. Under our long history of *corpus delicti* cases, courts "have always required sufficient evidence independent of a defendant's confession to support a conviction." 168 Wn.2d at 254.

A corpus delict issue is reviewed de novo, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, drawing all reasonable inferences therefrom. See State v. Hotchkiss II, 1 Wn. App. 2d 275, 279, 404 P.3d 629 (2017), review denied, 190

Wn.2d 1005 (2018); Aten, 130 Wn.2d at 660-61.

Instead of applying the holdings and standards this Court has set for *corpus delicti* cases in *Brockob*, *Aten*, and other cases, however, Division Two declined. App. A at 6-11. It did not address Mr. Owens' *corpus delicti* arguments; it reframed them to the different factual circumstance where the issue is straight insufficiency of the evidence to support a verdict, when no confession or *corpus delicti* issues are involved. App. A at 6-11.

This Court should grant review. The Court has chosen the standards to be used when the question is whether the defendant's confession was properly admitted under the *corpus delicti* rule. *See State v. Cardenas-Flores*, 189 Wn.2d 243, 401 P.3d 19 (2017). The Court has recognized the different purpose of the *corpus delicti* rule as not just a sufficiency rule but a "corroboration rule," relating to the defendant's confession. 189 Wn.2d at 254. In addition, the rule in our state is different than federal and other states, which have relaxed the requirements for corroboration. 189 Wn.2d at 260-61.

After converting the questions presented to exclude the corpus delicti issues, Division Two then did not actually apply

the correct standard even for the incorrect straight "sufficiency" claim. That standard has also been set by this Court. See, e.g., State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). Such a claim admits the State's evidence, taking it in light most favorable to the State, asking if any rational trier of fact could have found quilt. *Id*. Here, the Court of Appeals did not conduct that analysis; it excluded the confession, then declared the evidence sufficient to prove Mr. Owens had "constructive possession" over the items in the backpack thrown from the car by Ms. Armstrong because Mr. Owens was driving, had driven the same car at some point in the past, and had tried to elude police - without mentioning that Mr. Owens had a warrant out for his arrest at the time of the crime. App. A at 8-9. The trial court similarly concluded that Mr. Owens had "dominion and control" over everything in the car simply because he was driving it. CP 136-37.

Having dominion and control over a car is not by iself enough to prove knowing possession of things inside that car, however. *See, e.g., State v. Tadeo-Mares*, 86 Wn. App. 813, 817, 939 P.2d 220 (1997); *Echeverria*, 85 Wn. App. at 783 (non-owner driver of a car is not in "constructive possession" of everything

hidden inside absent evidence the driver saw it).

Even applying the incorrect modified standard as

Division Two here did, the evidence was insufficient to prove
that Mr. Owens knowingly possessed the items that were in a
closed backpack that Ms. Armstrong threw out of the car.

Compare, State v. Bowen, 157 Wn. App. 821, 239 P.3d 1114
(2010) (accused was the sole owner, driver, and occupant of the
truck, gun was in a nylon bag beside the driver's seat); State v.

Turner, 103 Wn. App. 515, 13 P.3d 324 (2000) (accused owned
the truck he was driving, could reach the gun in the backseat
and knew it was there). But this was not just a case about
sufficiency; it was a case about a confession which formed the
bulk of the State's case. The Court of Appeals erred in failing to
apply the standards this Court has established for such cases.

The Court of Appeals committed this same error not just in holding there was sufficient evidence of "constructive possession" but also regarding the proof of "intent to deliver." App. A at 9-12. In addition, the decision below directly conflicts with this Court's holding in *Goodman*. In *Goodman*, six bags of suspected drugs were found with a total weight of 2.8 grams. 150 Wn.2d 782. Although only three were tested, the

trial court entered a finding citing the weight of the methamphetamine as 2.8 grams. *Id.* This Court held that the finding was improper, because, "the State proved only three of those baggies contained methamphetamine." *Id.*

Here, the forensic scientist testified that she tested only one bag of suspected drugs. RP 349-50. Yet in conclusion of law IV, the trial court found that the backpack contained "3 separately packaged baggies of methamphetamine," and that the crime was committed while "armed" because the gun was in the same backpack as "three separately packaged baggies of methamphetamine[.]" CP 136-37.

Although mentioning *Goodman*, Division Two did not follow it, instead upholding a trial court finding of "fact" that all three bags contained methamphetamine even though only one was tested. App. A at 11. The incorrect "fact" that there were three separate bags of actual drugs, however, was a crucial part of the State's very thin claim that Mr. Owens was guilty of possessing drugs with intent to deliver. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Further, review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Due process required the State to prove its case beyond a

reasonable doubt. The State failed to test more than one bag of suspected drugs; it thus failed to meet its burden of proving that all three bags contained methamphetamine under *Goodman*. The "fact" that there were three bags of drugs, however, was a crucial part of the very sparse evidence upon which the State relied in arguing that the possesion was with intent to deliver. By failing to follow *Goodman*, Division Two here relieved the State of the full weight of its burden of proof, in violation of the mandates of due process.

This Court should grant review on the *corpus delicti* issues. Division Two improperly refused to apply this Court's holdings on how *corpus delicti* claims raised are to be addressed by our state's appellate courts in order to honor the unique purposes and nature of our rule. This Court has granted review repeatedly in an effort to ensure proper application of the state's *corpus delicti* rule. *See, e.g., Cardenas-Flores,* 189 Wn.2d at 254; *Brockob,* 159 Wn.2d at 328; *Aten,* 130 Wn.2d at 660. Further, the decision below is in conflict with this Court's decision in *Goodman* and holdings in cases like *Echeverria* which require more than just "dominion and control" over a car to prove knowing possession of items inside. Finally, review

should be granted the Court of Appeals decision relieved the State of the full weight of its constitutionally mandated due process burden of proof.

2. REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED TO ADDRESS COUNSEL'S INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE

In affirming, Division Two also held that counsel was not ineffective in failing to impeach Deputy Olson, the only officer who claimed that Mr. Owens had confessed. App. A at 12-13. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3), because the failure to impeach the only witness who claims your client confessed was constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel.

Both the Sixth and 14th Amendments and our state's Article I, § 22, guarantee the accused effective assistance of appointed counsel. *See State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009); *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 688, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). Deputy Olson had been found to have given testimony which was "not credible" and to have given conflicting testimony about a search he claimed had occurred "incident to arrest." RP 20, 24. Here, counsel asked to inquire briefly and the court said it would be allowed and the State could then elicit some bolstering

rebuttal. RP 21. But counsel did not impeach the deputy at the suppression hearing or trial. RP 23-37, 265-87.

In concluding there was not ineffective assistance, the Court of Appeals speculated that counsel "may have decided against impeachment" because he knew the State would "inevitably rehabilitate the officer" with evidence of commendations. App. A at 12-13. Division Two did not address the bolstering in which the State engaged. App. A at 12-13. Nor did it discuss that the deputy was the only witness who heard the incriminating statements which the judge then relied on in finding guilt for counts I and II. App. A at 12-13; see CP 129-39.

This Court should grant review. In a bench trial, a judge is presumed to rely only on the evidence admitted, not on evidence discussed in pretrial rulings. *See State v. Read*, 147 Wn.2d 238, 245, 53 P.3d 26 (2002). By failing to raise the issue and impeach Deputy Olson with the available information, counsel left the deputy's credibility unchallenged, even though the deputy was the only witness to the alleged confession. The Court of Appeals decision was in error.

3. REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED ON THE *BLAKE* ISSUE

Review should also be granted on Division Two's decision that there is no need to order resentencing despite a *Blake* issue removing a point for a 2012 conviction for unlawful possession of methamphetamine and a point for being on "community custody," apparently for that offense, at the time of the current crimes. CP 73-74, 108.

The statutory maximum for count I was usually 120 months but the State applied a "doubler" which increased the firearm enhancement from 36 months to ten years of flat time and doubled the statutory maximum to 240 months. See CP 74. At sentencing, Mr. Owens sought leniency, asking the court to impose an exceptional sentence below the standard range and a Drug Offender Sentencing Alternative (DOSA) of 120 months total, half of the new statutory maximum. RP 439-41, 443, 449.

In arguing for the doubling and a sentence of 230 months, the prosecutor relied on Mr. Owens having previously been convicted of drug crimes, including the 2012 conviction.

CP 74. The State also relied on that conviction and argued that Mr. Owens should not receive leniency in part because he had

been on community custody at the time of the crimes. RP 441-43. The prosecutor asked for 230 months (10 less than the statutory maximum after doubling) and the judge imposed a sentence of 220 months for count I. RP 454-44.

On review, Division Two agreed that the two points were included in error. App. A at 14-16. But the majority then held that resentencing was "unnecessary" because Mr. Owens was sentenced at the low end of the standard range. App. A at 16. The decision depended on an unpublished opinion which had concluded that error in calculating the offender score under *Blake* did not require resentencing if the accused was given a sentence at the low end and a reduction in the offender score did not change the range. App. A at 16, *quoting*, *State v*. *Weekly*, __ Wn. App. 2d __ (2022 WL 2719518) (unpublished), *review denied*, 199 Wn.2d 1023 (2022).

This Court should grant review. In *State v. McCorkle*, 88 Wn. App. 485, 499-500, 945 P.2d 736 (1997), the Court of Appeals found an error in miscalculating an offender score was reversible error even when that error did not affect the standard range, because the record did not clearly indicate that the lower court would have imposed the same sentence absent

the error. In State v. LaBounty, 17 Wn. App. 2d 576, 487 P.3d 221 (2021), the Court recognized that a change in the prior criminal history by removing a void conviction does not just affect the sentencing range but also can require resentencing when the existence of that conviction was part of the reason for the State's recommendation and the lower court decision so that the reviewing Court should not presume those recommendations would be the same when those facts change. Weekly itself ordered resentencing because the record did not clearly indicate the same sentences would be imposed absent the error. See Weekly, 21 Wn. App.2d 1002. Below, both the prosecutor and the court discussed the existence of the prior conviction and the fact that Mr. Owens was on community custody as relevant to the sentence imposed - a sentence which was a rejection of the leniency for which Mr. Owens pled. This Court should grant review.

4. REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED ON THE ISSUES RAISED IN THE *PRO SE* RAP 10.10 STATEMENT

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