FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/26/2022 1:23 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101208-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DUSTEN JAMES OWENS,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

Teresa Chen
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 31762 / OID #91121
930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
(253) 798-6517

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The court of appeals' decision is not in conflict with any published authority.

In this petition, Owens alleges that the unpublished opinion is in conflict with *State v. Goodman*, 150 Wn.2d 774, 782, 83 P.3d 410 (2004). Pet. at 7. There is no conflict.

///

///

1. Owens misrepresents that *Goodman* held that all baggies must be tested where it only observed that 2.8 grams represented the weight of six baggies, rather than three.

Owens claims that *Goodman* prohibits an inference that the untested baggies also contained methamphetamine. Pet. at 12-13. This completely misreads *Goodman* where the court found a misstatement of the evidence in the record, not insufficient evidence for possession with intent.

In that case, six baggies weighed a total of 2.8 grams. Goodman, 150 Wn.2d at 779. Three of those baggies were tested. *Id.* Goodman challenged a finding of fact which read:

Three of those baggies were tested by the State Crime Laboratory. The test was positive for methamphetamine, with a weight of 2.8 grams.

Id. at 782. The reviewing court agreed that this finding misstated the evidence, because the three tested baggies did not weigh 2.8 grams. *Id.* It was all six baggies which weighed this amount.

The misstatement was ultimately inconsequential. *Id.* (noting the error in the finding "does not change the result we

reach"). *Id.* at 782. The court found sufficient evidence of an intent to deliver.

Unlike Goodman, Owens has not alleged that the judge misstated the evidence. Nor did she. The factfinder correctly and precisely described the evidence like this:

XII.

The white crystalline substance from one of the three baggies found in the backpack was analyzed by Ms. Dudschus and found to contain methamphetamine and weighed 27.7 grams. Ms. Dudschus testified that the three separate baggies were in one item and that the material in each baggie was similar in appearance and structure. The weight and volume of white crystalline substance in each bag also appeared to be the same.

CP 133.

Rather Owens has complained about the factfinder's conclusion that all three baggies in the backpack contained methamphetamine Ap. Op. Br. at 1 (citing Conclusion of Law IV). The court of appeals reviewed the challenge for substantial evidence in the record. Unpub. Op. at 9; *see also State v. Hill*, 123 Wn.2d 641, 644, 870 P.2d 313 (1994) (substantial evidence

is evidence sufficient to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth). There is substantial evidence that the other baggies contained the same substance where all three baggies were similar in appearance, had the same volume and weight, were packaged together in another bag, and lacked separate markings or labels such that Owens or his buyers would be able to discriminate one baggie from the other. RP 190-93, 228, 296, 344-45, 350, 352-53.

Because this was not the issue in *Goodman*, there is no merit to the claim that the court of appeals' opinion conflicts with *Goodman*.

2. Consistent with *Goodman*, intent to deliver was proven by more than mere amount of the drug.

Goodman explains that the element of "intent to deliver" may be proven by a deliverable amount plus one other fact. Goodman, 150 Wn.2d at 782-83 (citing State v. Zunker, 112 Wn. App. 130, 136, 48 P.3d 344 (2002) review denied, 148 Wn.2d 1012, 62 P.3d 890 (2003)). In State v. Lane, 56 Wn. App. 286, 297, 786 P.2d 277 (1989), there was a large amount of product

(one ounce of cocaine) together with large amounts of cash and scales. In *State v. Harris*, 14 Wn. App. 414, 542 P.2d 122 (1975), *review denied*, 86 Wn.2d 1010 (1976), the drugs were packaged in five bags and there were scales. And in *State v. Simpson*, 22 Wn. App. 572, 590 P.2d 1276 (1979), the heroin was located in more than one place in the house and tied off in balloons.

In Owens' case, the evidence was that:

- the amount of drugs in the backpack was significantly more than was common for personal use (RP 291-92, 294-96, 300, 362);
- the drugs in the backpack were packaged for sale (three one-ounce baggies inside another baggie) (RP 344-45, 352-53);
- Owens kept drugs in two locations—in the backpack for sale and hidden with his girlfriend for personal use (RP 196, 227-28);

- the sale stash was in a bag with a gun, and dealers frequently carry a gun with their sale stash to defend it (RP 228, 293-95, 298-99);
- Owens had significant reason to avoid police attention:
 - he believed he had a warrant for failing to check in with his community corrections officer whose office was two blocks from the situs of his arrest (RP 104, 108, 230-31);
 - Owens had reason to know that he could be more easily searched while on community custody; and
 - having just served a sentence for the identical offenses (drugs and firearm possession), he had reason to know that he would face significant prison time if caught (RP 272, 283);
- Owens was driving (RP 185);

- he fled from police (RP 165-69);
- it is not reasonable to believe that he would have risked a two-year sentence for attempting to elude to avoid a few weeks incarceration for a mere community custody violation (CP 155; RP 359);
- Owens' girlfriend begged him stop for the sake of her two-year-old son who was also in the car (RP 132, 189-90);
- he did not stop until the drugs had been tossed from the car (RP 175-75, 218); and
- Owens confessed to possessing both gun and drugs and to an intent to sell the drugs in the backpack (RP 272-73, 276, 279-84).

Consistent with *Goodman*, there was more evidence than a mere saleable amount to support an inference of Owen's intent to deliver. Amount was not, as Owens' alleges, a "crucial" part of "sparse" proof of intent to deliver. Pet. at 14. The State need only show amount plus one additional fact. That one additional

fact could have been Owens' confession, the presence of a gun, his flight, the separate packaging, or the storing of drugs for personal use separately from the drugs intended for sale.

3. Contrary to Owens' claim, the court of appeals explicitly considered the evidence apart from his confession.

Owens claims that the court of appeals only addressed or "convert[ed]" his claim to one of "straight insufficiency," failing to consider sufficiency in the absence of Owens' confession. Pet. at 10. This is false. The evidence is much more than Owens' confession. And the unpublished opinion specifically considered sufficiency apart from the confession.

We hold that the evidence is sufficient to establish Owens's constructive possession of the backpack even without the admission of his statements.

Unpub. Op. at 7. The court specifically addressed Owens' claim that "nothing connects him to the backpack containing the gun and the methamphetamine except his confession and the State's theory of constructive possession." Unpub. Op. at 8. It noted that the question was not whether Owens' girlfriend had joint

possession, since constructive possession need not be exclusive.

Id. at 8-9. It found there was sufficient evidence of Owens' possession. Id. ("We conclude the evidence is sufficient here.").

Owens persists that he could not have known what was in his backpack, because he threw it out of the passenger window. Pet. at 12. This argument demonstrates that it is Owens, not the court, who "fail[s] to apply the standards." Pet. at 12. Under the correct legal standard, every inference must be drawn most strongly for the state and against the defendant. Owens alone chose when to flee and when to stop fleeing. He only stopped driving after the backpack had been removed from the vehicle. This and many other facts support a strong inference that he knew what was in his backpack which had been in his car.

The court of appeals' decision does not conflict with any published case, and therefore is not reviewable under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or RAP 13.4(b)(2).

///

///

B. The trial attorney's strategy not to impeach a credible witness so as to open the door to even more information commending the witness does not raise a constitutional issue.

Owens maintains that his attorney should have impeached Dep. Olson with the fact that he had forgotten some small unrecorded detail over the course of four years. This innocuous memory lapse cannot impeach a confession promptly memorialized in a police report. There is no likelihood that the potential impeachment information could have altered the outcome of Owens' trial. *State v. Estes*, 188 Wn.2d 450, 457-58, 395 P.3d 1045 (2017); *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

This argument again disrespects the legal standards. The reviewing court begins with a strong presumption that defense counsel acted reasonably in the course of representation. *State v. Grier*, 171 Wn.2d 17, 33, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011). A claim of ineffective assistance reviews counsel's full performance throughout representation, not merely the specific allegation. *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 335. And defense counsel's legitimate

trial strategy or tactics cannot be the basis for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 336 (citing *State v. Garrett*, 124 Wn.2d 504, 520, 881 P.2d 185 (1994)). The defendant must demonstrate a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different. *Estes*, 188 Wn.2d at 457-58; *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 334-35.

Owens belittles the court of appeals as having engaged in speculation regarding counsel's strategy. Pet. at 16. It was not speculation. The court drew on a specific discussion in the record in which defense counsel acknowledged that he had sufficiently impeached the witness by bringing the motion, since the judge who ruled on the motion would also be the finder of fact in the bench trial. The judge agreed that the bell could not be unrung. The judge then advised that raising the matter at trial would open the door to the deputy's accolades. The attorney's decision not to press further was made in that context.

Owens asserts that Dep. Olson was the only witness to his confession. Pet. at 16. This is not true. Owens was also a witness. And Owens had testified at his CrR 3.5 hearing admitting that Dep. Olson's testimony was the truth. RP 96 ("My state of mind was, 'I can't believe I'm in this again' ... I mean the facts are almost identical to the facts of my last case, for two. And just the overall situation."). The same judge who heard Owens' admission would sit on the bench trial.

It would be poor strategy indeed to attack Dep. Olson under these facts. The court of appeals' sound decision does not present a constitutional issue such as would permit review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

C. Owens offers no RAP 13.4(b) basis to review the court of appeals' decision to remand to correct the offender score post-*Blake*.

Owens would like a full resentencing, although the court still cannot impose anything less than it has. This is not reasonable.

Owens' score still remains far in excess of the maximum 9 points. Owens is a high priority offender based on his criminal history and rapid recidivism. RP 444, 454. His reduced score of 12 still exceeds the 0-9 range and the 9-point high end that the Legislature anticipated. His standard sentence range remains the same. *State v. Cyr*, 195 Wn.2d 492, 461 P.3d 360 (2020) did not change that.

Owens has no right to an exceptional sentence. RCW 9.94A.585(1) (he cannot appeal a standard range sentence). A change from 14 points to 12 points is not a mitigating factor.

The sentencing court already heard and denied Owens' request for exceptional downward departures or a DOSA. It found no mitigating factor, a prerequisite to an exceptional downward sentence. RCW 9.94A.535. *State v. Blake*, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021) did not result in a finding of a mitigating factor, so there is still no basis for an exceptional downward sentence. And Owens still remains ineligible for a DOSA. RP 445.

The superior court already imposed a sentence at the low end of the standard range. It cannot give him less. Owens does not assert a basis under RAP 13.4(b) to challenge this decision. None exists.

D. There is no basis to review a challenge to a charge on which the Defendant was acquitted.

In the Statement of Additional Grounds, Owens challenged a bail jumping charge (for lack of notice, lack of probable cause, and blaming the prosecutor, defense counsel, and judge in turn). Owens asserts that the court of appeals held him to an improper standard. Pet. at 21. In fact, the court of appeals denied the claims as moot, because Owens was acquitted of bail jumping. Unpub. Op. at 17. There is no remedy after acquittal. There is no logical reason to review this. And Owens asserts no RAP 13.4(b) basis.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny the petition which meets no consideration under RAP 13.4(b).

This document contains 3,031 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.